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) , MURs*4530and4547 . "  ' . .  
Chien Chum "Jobxhy" Chung (4530) 1 
Automatad intelligent Systems, k. (4530) 1 
ClintOlJGarc '96 Primary Committee, Inc. - 1 

SENSlTlyE 
...... . .  . . . . .  and Joan Pollitt, as masurer (4547) 

. . . .  
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GENERAL COUNSEL'S REPORT 
. . . .  . .  

I. ODUCTION 
. . .  

This matter was generated by a complaint filed with the Federal Election Commission 
. . . .  

("Commission") by the DNC Services Corporation/Democratic National Committee ("DNC"), 

requesting that the Commission investigate issues that were raised in the news media 

surrounding "certain contributions" to the DNC, including those of Chien Chum "Johnny" 

Chung ("Chung") and his company Automated Intelligent Systems, Inc. ("AISI"). On June 17, 

1997, thc Commi&ion fbund reason to believe that Chung and AIS1 each violated 2 U.S.C. 

.Q 441e(a) and that Chung also violated 2 U.S.C. 6 441f of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 

1971, is amended ("the Act?. Since that time, Chung has pled guilty to criminal conspiracy to 

. ' 

violate 2 U.S.C. 00 441a and 441f in connection with two conduit schemes, including $20,000 in 

reimbursed contributions to the ClintodGore '96 Primary Committee. Chung has been 

sentenced to five years probation and 3000 hours of community service, and has testified before 

the House CommitteC on Government Worm.' 

I 

Committee has made the notes of its nprrsentatives publicly available on its website. 

In addition, two rrprrsCneatives of this Office attended a briefmg and interview with Chung and his lawyer 
on April 26-27.1999, along with representatives of the House Committee on Government Reform. The HOUK -. 
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1 Finally, tbis Offie  recommends that the Commission mke no 

further action with respect to AIS1 and closc the file with rcspect to that respondent. 

1. Section 441g 
d 
0 
m 
Y 
m 

The Act provides that no person shall make contributions to any candidate and his 

authorized political committees with respect to any election for Federal office which, ia the 

aggregate, exceed $1,000; to the politid committees established and maintained by a national 

political party, which arc not the authorid political committees of any candidate, in any 

calendar year which, in the aggregate, exceed $20,000; or to any other political committee in any 

caIcndar year which, in the aggregate, exceed $5,000. 2 U.S.C. 6 441a(a)( I). An designated 

contribution is applied to the candidate's next upcoming election. I 1 C.F.R 6 1 10.1 (b)(2)(ii). 
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Pursuant to 2 U.S.C. 0 441a(a)(3), an individual is prohibited fiom making contributions 

aggregating more than $25,000 in a calendar year. Furthcmrorc, any contributions made to a 

candidate in a year other than the calendar year in which the election is held with respect to 

which such a contribution is made, is considered made during the calendar year in which such 

electionisheld 

2. Section 44le 

The Act prohibits the solicitation, making, accqtancc and receipt of any campaign 

contribution fiom f d g n  nationals: 

. - 
' . 

It shall be unlawful for a'fmign ktional'directly or through any other person to make 
any contribution of money or other thing of value, or to promise expressly or impliedly to 

... 
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_. -. contributiori, in connection with a i  dection to anypoiiticaI office or in 
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office; or fbr any pason to solicit, accept, or &xi& anysuch contribution 
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' 2  U.S.C. 8 #le(a). Section #le thus prohibits even a U.S. citizen's use of money acquired 

&om a fbreign national, if that money was acquired for the purpose of enabling the foreign 

national to matc political ccmtributions. CommiSSion regutations further phibit foreign 

nationals h n  participating in any decision-making process rcgardhg any federal or non-federal . 

election-related activities, including contributions or expenditures. 11 C.F.R. Q 110.4(a)(3). 

. .  
' . 

........ ... I 7 .... . . .  
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These prohibitions apply to all fedcral, state, aud local elections, and to both expenditures and 

contributions by f b i g n  nationals. 1 1 C3.R 8 1 10.4(a)(l). 7he prohibitions of Section 44 le 

apply to all contributions "in connection with an election to any political office," including 

contributions to the n0nlfi;ederal accoullts of national party committees? 

3 
d 
f 
3 
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... The Act defkes '%reign natid"as cither a foreign principal as defined in - .  
I \  

22 U.S.C. 8 61 I@), or a noncitizen who is not Iawfully admitted for perman#lt residence as 

defined in 8 U.S.C. 6 1 101(a)(20). The tam "foreign principal" includes: 

(1) a government of a forrip couatry and a foreign political m; 
(2) a person outside the United States, unless it is established that such person is an 
individual and a citizen of and domiciled within the United States, or that such person is 
not an individual and is organized under or created by the laws of the United States or of 
any State or other place subject to the jurisdiction of the United States and has its 
principal place of business within the United States; and 

(3) a partnership, association, Corporation, organization, or other combination of persons 
organkd under the laws of or having its principal place of business in a foreign country. 

1 

conmiom for fcdaal clcctions. P.S. v. Trie, 23 F. Supp. 2d 55 (D.D.C. 1998). the Cwrt of Appeals for the 
Disuict of Columbia C i i t  recently ruled that Section 441(e) prohibits foreign rofi-money donations. US. v. 
Kanchanalak, 1999 WL 798065 @.C. Cu. October 8,1999). 

Although one d u c t  coun has held that the f a @  national prohibition at Section 44 le(a) applies only to 

) . -- 
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) .  ' '  Thus, Section 441e of the Act prohibits f d g n  national individuals;'gqvmments, 'and' - . ._I. .. . . . . .  C .  . . .  . . . . .  .... . - I  .. 
other entities h m  nuiking d b u t i o n s  aqd expcnditracs in connection with fidd,'&te,and * .  

. .  . .  ... : . . . .  - .  
local elections, and h m  participating in the.decision-mal<ing proccss regarding such 
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contributor individual; mipieat); MUR 4239 (m) C,!miptor individual; recipient); MUR 3801 (Sharon Ran 
Kelly Committee) (recipient); MUR 3541 (Schoemchl) (conlributor individual; solicitoc and recipient); MUR 3460 
(Spons Shinko) (contributor domestic subsidiary of foreign corporation and foreign national directors); and MUR 
2892 (Friends of Frank Fasi) (contributor individuals and wrporations. instrumentality of a foreign goveirimmt). 

For other marrcrs addrasing 2 U.S.C. 0 &IC, see MUR 4398 (Kramcr) (Commission conciliated with 
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mung, a United S k  citi#a since 1988, was, during thc time r&ant to this matter, . .  

the chairman and CEO of AISI, a Califbrnia corporation q a g d  in the fax broadcast system 

... . . . . . . . . .  

business. While this was a legitimate business, it was not profitable; however, AISI xeccived ': : ' ' 

sizable h m  investon in the company during 1993 and 1994. Beginning in 1995, through 

the end of 1996, Chuq derived significant income fiom Chinese business contacts, for whom he 

performad services such as assistingthem to obtain visas, e~~~rtingthcm around the country, and 

introducing them to government officials. 

As discussed below, h m  1994-1996, Chung, individually and through AISI, made 

approximately $400,000 in political contributions, including $366,000 to the DNC. It appears 

that the source of $20,000 of Chug's contributions during 1996 were foreign nationals who 

transfiimd fimds to Chung for the putpose of making political contributions, and that Chuug 

accepted and received fhds to be used for that purpose, in violation of 2 U.S.C. 0 441e(a). 

During 1996, Chung also contributed, in his own name, $10,000 to the Democratic Senatorial 

Campaign Committee, and $1,000 each to the Kerry Committee primary and general election 

accounts. Through conduits whom he reimbursed, Chug contributed another $8,000 to the 

Kerry Committee in 1996 and at least S20,OOO to the ClintodGore '96 Primary Committee 

("ClintodGore '96'') in September 1995. 

' 

' 
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ClintodGore ‘96 Ccnturv Citv Fmrdraiscl; 

- .  . .othas’ 1 
a 

In 1995, Chung became a member of the ClintodGorc ’96 Southern California Finance 

Council and committed to raise $100,000 in contributions. Exhibits 67 and 68 to the Intcrim 

Report and the House deposition of Kimberly Ray (“Ray”).’ In connection with a September21, 

1995 fbd-raising dinner in Century City, califbmia, Ray, Southern California Finance Director 

for ClintodGore ‘96, sent a letter to Chmg dated August 5,1996, stating that she hoped ”you 

have already begun talking to people about the dinner and securing Mi commitments,” and 

enclosed rcmit cards for contributors to fill out and mail to ClintodGorc ’96 along with their 

contributions. Exhibit 67 to the Interim Report. On September 11,1995, Ray faxed a 

memorandum to Chung, asking for a list of names for preliminary seating purposes for the 

September 21 dinner, and advising that people could not be part of that seating unless their 

contributions were fcccivcd by September 19. The memorandum M e r  advised that 

“[~Jubstitutions. .. (i.e. Susie Smith paid S1,OOO but Johnny Jones is attending. in her place)” had 

to be called in by September 20. The memorandum mds with “Johnny-I’m not showing any 

individual commitments or contributions toward your 1 OOK commitment you made to Teny 

[McAuliffk, CliitodGore ‘96’s National Finaricc Chair]. T i e  is running out. Please advise.” 

me evidence in this section b drawn from the public record. The sourccs include the Criminal 
Information in U.S. v. Chuqg, No. CR 98-230, exhibits to the Interim Rcpon of the H o w  Committee on 
Govanmcnt Ref- and Oversight Campaign Finance Investigation and Related Mancn (“Interim Report”), the 
H o w  deposition testimony of Irene Wu. Nancy Lcc, Kimberly Ray and Karen Stmfeld. and disclosure rcporu 
filed with the Commission. Ihcse materials. some of which haw ken panially redacted by the House Cornmiace. 
arc publicly available. In insranees where the CO-missiPm m i n e d  documents during the course of its 
investigation which were also available on the public record, the reference is to the public record. 

, .  . - S All exhibit references are to Chapter IV, Part C of the Interim Report. 
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H o w  Deposition, Ray’testified . . . . . . . . . .  . . . .  that any . .  firnds raised by _. --.- ..... .... . . . .  ...... . . . . . .  . .  . .  ; -1, ->-. .. 
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would have go& towardks S l O O , ~ ’ ~ & g  . . . . .  . . ’ 
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. .  . ... . ... On September 19,1995, Chung k e d  to Karen S t d l d  (“Stcmfeld”), Clinton/Gorc ‘96 ’ . . 

Deputy FA Director for Southern California, a fist of 24 guests who would be attending the. . ’%.!“ . 

Sqtunbcr 21,1995 dinner, including himself, his wife, employees of AISI, and others.- Exhibit . . . . . .  . . . .  .. 
42 to thc Interim Report. Accordhgtothelnterh Report, thclktdso included several Chinese 

. .  nationals who were ineligible to contribute to CtintOdGorc ’96. In her House deposition, 

S t d d d  testified that Chmg brought a S25,OOOcheck made out .to the DNC to the Century City 

cvint S d e l d  fbrther testified that ”I told Mr. Chung at the time that I couldn’t accept that 

‘check.. . I let him know that we needed individual contributions &om his guests.” She testified 

that she ais0 told Chmg that &ntributions to Clinton/Gore ‘96 were limited to S 1,000 per 

individual. Sternfeld testified that Chug  told her he would “messenger the cheeks or M i  Wu 

would bring them the next day.” According to the Chung Criminal Information, Chung attended . ’ 

the dinner with approximately 20 guests. 

In her House deposition, h e  Wu (“Wun), who had been an AISI employee since 1994, 

testified that she received a telephone call the next morning fiom Stedeld, who told Wu that 

Chung had given a check the Committee could not accept, and that they still needed individual 

checks for the event. Wu testified that she told Stedeld that all the guests had left. and she 

could not get the individual checks anymore, and that Stedeld responded that the contributors 

did not necessarily have to be the same people that attended the event. Strmfeld said that she ’ 

- - - .  . .  
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... . ,and others &om ClinW&re'% would be atarestamnt'dk5:OO p.m. . . . . .  that evening, . and that .--. 
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Wu could deliver the checks to her thcre. 

. . . .  

. . .  . .  I ' . ..,%!:;. .... .. :.:> ....... 
.:.. 

. .  . . . . .  we knew wc had to tale care of this, so we started tallting about it, 
what needs to be done. And so he said, "we haw to find the. 
individual checks." And Imders td  it as part of my job in 
assisting him that I would call mumi and getthe checks together. 

. . .  - ' ; .a :. , . . . .  . .  . .  ... 
-' 

5.. . :  ...... . -.:+ . .  
i n  

According to Wu, Chw told her that he was going to reimburse the individuals who contributed 
. .  . . . . . .  with cash. 

Wu testified that she wrote a S1,OOO check to ClintodGorc '96, and was hirabursed by 

Chung. Wu fiather testified that she collected checks fiom othcr AISI employees, and also asked '' 

her f m e r  husband to find people to makc contributions, which he did In radpition, Wu d e d  
. .  

Nancy Lee ("L#"), who worked as aprt-time bookkccperfbr AISI at night, a d  worked Wl- . .  

timeatanothercompanycallcdduringtheday. Wutoldhaaboutthecall~~KarrnStanZrld,;.'.:..:.. . . . .  '). 

and asked Lee to help her get together individual checks. In her House deposition, Lee testified 
. .  . .  . . . .  . :. . 

' . ' 

that Wu called her, asked her to collect S1,OOO checks as afi&, and that Wusaid she was 

willing to exchange cash for the checks. La wrote a SI ,000 check herself and collected $1 ,OOO 

checks to ClinWGorc '96 &om several of her co~workcrs and others. Twenty individual S1,OOO 

checks were collectcd by Wu, her fonner husband, and Let. According to the mung 

Momtion, at Chung's direction, cash was withdrawn from two of Chung's personal bank 

accounts, and at Chung's direction, an AISI employee delivered 51,000 in cash to each of thc 

twenty conduit contributors to reimbwse-them-fix the S 1,000 checks they had written to 

. .  
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.... . coIIected that day. Sternfield testified that aRn receiving the && from Wu, "at that 
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b me twenv conduit muibonwz appear to have been h e  W y  Na-Chi "Nancy" Lee. Woody Hwang, 
Lmg-Mi Chian& Ya-Hui I(a0 Hwung, Hsi-Chun Tsao h g .  Anna L. Kuluza, Mike Yen-Wen Wang, Steven 
Lin. Annie €Io. Chiig Kai Licn. Chin Lin, Chua Ju Chcng. Meng Eng Sun. Yen Ling Shaa Susan Tan, William 
Cheurig. 'IhcoQora S t a n ~ ~ y .  Xidong Shan MQ SbB aka Lb. See the Interim Repon. Chapter IV. Pan C and 
Ime Wu's House testimony. ClintonKion '96 reponed receipt on September 29.1995 of S1.OOO contributions 
from each of these individuals. Ibe Kerry Committee. kfik also rrported a contribution fiom a Shih Chieh Lin. 
This W i c e  believes that this is the same individual as Shih Chien Lin. 
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b. CoriUnittec Fundrais~ 

Johnny Chug also made contributioins through conduits to the Keny Committee. In a' 

fhx to Chmg dated July 31,1996, Barbara Kaltenbach ofthe Kcny C o d t t c e  stated that the 

two ways Chung could k hdpfhl to Senator John Kerry would k to host an cvent in Los 

Angels in September or to contribute to the Massachusetts State Democratic Party. &g Exhibit 

98 to the Interim Report. In her Housc deposition, Irene Wu testifkd that she received a call 

&om the K#ry Committee saying that S d r  Kary would be in town and Chug had promised 

, to host an event for him. Wu and Chung talked, and decided to host a firndraising codmil event 

on September 9,1996'at the Peninsula Hotel in Beverly Hills, California. Wu stated that 10-12 

people attended the event. 

d 
6 3 
$ I 
4 
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According to the criminal Infarmaton, Chung attended the September 9,1999 event 

with four guests, and in order to pay forthese guests Chung and others agreed that Chung would 

contribute $8,000 of his own money to the Ktrry Committee through conduit contributors. Wu 

testified that right befm the event, when they were already at the hotel, Chug asked her to 

make a $2,000 contribution to the Kerry Committee in connection with the event, and said that 

he would reimburse her. Wu was present when Chung also asked AIS1 employee Shih-Chi& 

(Michael) Lin and C h u g ' s  H e w  Steve Huang to write checks to the K m y  Committee, for 

which ire said he would rchburse them. Wu identified an individual named Ernest Lee as an 
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did b o w  ifh had been &a f& a political . .  a n ~ m o n .  a .--. . . . . .,..::.. .- _... .'.. . -  ' . . .:c . .. . - . 

.. .;.: :;:..>, .;. ;.;;. :. :i ' .. . . .. . 
d p t  on September 12,' 1996 of $2,ooO contributions . . (divided .. . .; ... ' ' 

... - . . - . . . ,. . . Fi, _.. . . * '  . . .  
. .  

.. . - . .  . .  . and the general) h m  each of Irene wu, shi chi& Li& stcve 
. .  .. . . . .  ... .. 

. Hueng and Ernest Lec. Chug wrote consecutively numbered checks, all dated September 9, 

1996, h m  one of his p d  bank accoullts for $2,000 to each of these individuals; on the 

Ttt . .  a 

c . .  .. . .. :* . -. . .. . . .. 
. .. . i .  . .  . . ... . 

. .... chccktb~Wu,chungwrotcinthememoportion:"sJ.Keny." -Exhibit 101 tothe--.:-. . . .  

Interim Repoh' 

u 
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The Kcrry Committee r e h d c d  each of there contributions on June 30.1997. 8 

. .  .. .. 

.. . 
. I - : .  . . 
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4. Makine Contributions with hlonev Received fiom Foreign 
Nationals 

a. Business Associates 

In addition to making excessive contributions and contributions in the names of others. 

Chung appears to have made contributions using foreiG h d s  in violation of Section 44 1 e. 

'- ' \  Chung attended his first significant DNC hdraiser in August 1994, President Clinton's 48"' 

birthday party, in connection with which he contributed S 1 1 .OOO through .4IS1. Chung met DNC 

fundraiser Richard Sullivan at this event. and thereafter Sullivan solicited contributions from 

him. According to Chug's House testimony. not only did attending this event make him feel 

like a "V.I.P.," but "it was after this event that [he] begm to realize the value and importance thai 

political donations could have on [his] ability to get access and to M e r  his business contacts..' 

He realized that in exchange for contributions. attending events and getting pictures with the 

President and Vice-president, he could promote his business. pmicularly the possibility of 

obtaining access to important people for active or potential business clicnts and AIS1 investors. 

I 



. :  . . .  ;- . . . .  . . . .  .: ........ .e.. . . . . .  .... . . . .  ... . . . . . . . .  .:.: %--' 
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. .  , 6 ' ,  
.... . . .  

:.. .... 
:.. 

photographs taken with high-level Americ&.officials ... "reflect ,,.'.. 
. . _  ..... . . .  . .  .. . . . .  .,,... .. ..... ...... . .  -.. . .  

. . .  ". ;"'. :' *:. .;. : .'. . .  . -. . . .  
::.:y: . .  ._ .-.. 

the degree . .  of yo; h&rtance." Chinese businesspeople. Chuni testified; were . . . .  yilling -. . .  to pail . . . . . . . .  ' . .  ' .' .. . . . . . .  . . .  
, .'' him large amounts of money to obtain such photographs. . . . . .  ..:*.:.'.b.. : : 

. . . . . .  . :. . .  
. . .  DNC firndraiscr Richard Sullivan solicited Chung's contribution of SJO.000 for a ' 

- .  ... ... .... '? .. . .  , . December 3,1994 event in Los Angeles featuring the First Lady. At this hdraisei. Chung met . . .  
. .  

. .  
a woman who was associated with'the Haomen Group. the second largest beer manufacturer in 

China. In midoDecember, this woman sent S 100,000 to AIS1 .through a company called "Golden 

Treasure," to have Chug promote Haomen beer in the United States and to have an opportunity . 

for Haomen Group representatives to meet with important persons. Thmafier. at Richard 

Sullivan's suggestion, Chung brought Haomen Group representatives (who were foreign 

nationals) to a December 19,1994 fundraiser. Chung. through .US!. contributed S40.000. and he 

and his guests had their picture taken with Vice-president Gore. Chung also brought the Haomen 

- ' .'.': . ' 

f ..: 

r"r * 
9 * I 
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9 .  
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.. 

. . . .  
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3 a 

u u . . .  . . . .  1 
Group representatives to a White House holiday reception on December 20,1994. and the . . . .  

Haomen Group representatives had their picture taken with President Clinton and the First Lady 

- a picture they used in China to promote Haomen beer. According to Chung. as 3 result of his 

success in arranging meetings and pictures with high-level .herican officials for the Haomen 

Group representatives, the Haomen Group people were impressed with Chung. talked him up in 

China, and introduced him to many people. 
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L l  4. No Further Action aeainst AIS1 
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. \  

AISI made four contributions to the n o d d e d  corporate account of the DNC, totaling I 

$91,000: contributions of $10,000 and $1,000 in August 1994 and two contributions of $40,000 

each in December 1994, one in connection with a DNC luncheon event in Los Angeles in early 

December feahuing the First Lady, to which Chug brought family members, and the other in 

connection with a December 19,1994 dinner with the Vice President in Washington. D.C., to 

which Chung brought Haomen Group representatives. As noted prcviously, in mid-December. 

Chug had received $100,000 to promote Haomen beer and to secure access to key people for 

Haomm Group representatives. However, the money received fiom the Haomen Group falls into 

the category of activity which this Office recommends that the Commission not pursue beyond a 

finding of reason to believe, as discussed above. ' In addition, during 1993 and 1994. AISI raised 
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. .  
of dollars fiom investok. Whilekmeoftac investors appear fiom ' 

-. . .  . . . . . . .  . . .  ........ >. .. 
I during this Office's investigation to have been foreign 

. . .  . . . .  ., :...: ::.. 8 . .:-:.. _. . : ... ........ . . . . .  .".-. . . .  ... . . .  
-I . . 

. . . . . .  . . . . .  "nitionals, .... most werc U.S. citizens or pezmanent &dents at the time of their investme&. : Thus. 
.... 

I' .. 
even iwithout the SlO0,OOO fiom the Haomen Group, bank records show that AIS1 would have 

had sufficient funds to makc the S40,OOO contribution in connection with the December 19,1994 

l idraiser .  Because AISI's Section 441e liability is unclear, and in ordtr to focus this matter on 

.:. 

. .  

the principal, Chung, this Office recommends that the Commission take no further action against 

Automated Intelligent Systems, Inc. and close the file as to that respondent. 
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6. Teke fiather action against Automated Intelligent Systems, Inc. and close the file ik. ' .  

.__. . 
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